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OUR VISION 
The Valley will be the best  
night racing venue in the world.

OUR MISSION
The Valley is the premier night racing 
venue in Australia, staging high quality 
thoroughbred racing. We are the home of 
the W.S. Cox Plate, the Weight-For-Age 
Championship of Australasia. 

We deliver exceptional experiences to all 
of our customers, our members, industry 
stakeholders and clients through our 
racing and non-raceday events.

We are a focal point within our 
community, making a significant economic 
contribution. We engage with local 
community and charity groups, striving to 
improve the quality of life in our local area. 
Through the redevelopment of The Valley 
Racecourse, we are creating a vibrant 
residential and commercial precinct that 
will be an enjoyable place to live and work.

OUR VALUES
Respect 
Accountability 
Community 
Experience 
Safety First
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COMMITTEE PROFILES
DON CASBOULT
JOINED COMMITTEE – July 2005 
TITLE / MEMBER OF WHICH MVRC COMMITTEES – Chairman.  
Vice Chairman from November 2007- November 2015 
Finance, Risk, Compliance and Audit Sub Committee 
Master Plan Sub Committee 
Chair of the Nominations Sub Committee
QUALIFICATIONS – University Michigan. INSEAD, France
OCCUPATION AND BUSINESS INTERESTS – Marketing Strategy & 
Brand Consultant. Director:- Automobile Association Insurance (NZ) - Thoroughbred Racing 
Productions - Private Companies
RACING INTERESTS AND AFFILIATIONS – Racehorse owner. Member of the VRC, 
Huntingdale Golf Club, National Golf Club, Carbine Club
WHEN NOT AT THE TRACK…Family, golf and boating.

BRIAN KRUGER 
JOINED COMMITTEE – August 2006 
TITLE/ MEMBER OF WHICH MVRC COMMITTEES – Vice Chairman 
since November 2015  
Honorary Treasurer from November 2007 to December 2011  
Chairman of the Master Plan Sub Committee 
Nominations Sub Committee
QUALIFICATIONS – Bachelor of Economics Monash University
OCCUPATION AND BUSINESS INTERESTS – Managing Director of 
Toll Holdings since January 2012. Prior to being appointed Managing 
Director, Brian held the position of Chief Financial Officer of Toll from July 2009
RACING INTERESTS AND AFFILIATIONS – Has raced a number of horses in recent years, 
including Adelaide Cup winner, Demerger and Sangster Stakes winner, Bel Mer. 
WHEN NOT AT THE TRACK…Golf, travel and the Carlton Football Club

JOHN BLIGHT
JOINED COMMITTEE – November 2009
TITLE / MEMBER OF WHICH MVRC COMMITTEES  
– Honorary Treasurer 
Chairman Finance Sub Committee 
Master Plan Sub Committee 
QUALIFICATIONS – Bachelor of Business (Acc), Fellow of the Institutes  
of Chartered Accountants in Australia and New Zealand and Fellow of  
the Financial Services Institute of Australasia
OCCUPATION AND BUSINESS INTERESTS – National Head of Corporate Finance, ShineWing 

Australia.  Board member Treasury Corporation Victoria
RACING INTERESTS AND AFFILIATIONS – Presently races a number of horses including the recently 
Stakes placed Sayed, and the jumping horses Valediction and Murphy’s Delight. John has also raced a 
number of horses over the years including the Golden Slipper placegetter Bring me the Maid, Group One 
Winner Rock Kingdom, and the multiple stakes winners Bank Robber and Here de Angels 
WHEN NOT AT THE TRACK…Enjoys spending time with family and friends, travelling including attending 
many of the great racing carnivals around Australia and Internationally and pursuing his ‘foodie’ passion

DAVID KOBRITZ 
JOINED COMMITTEE – April 2009
TITLE/ MEMBER OF WHICH MVRC COMMITTEES – Committee Member  
Master Plan Sub Committee  
Membership, Marketing & Commercial Sub Committee
OCCUPATION AND BUSINESS INTERESTS – Director of Deal Corporation, Property 
Development and Investment Company specialising in residential and commercial 
projects
RACING INTERESTS AND AFFILIATIONS – David has raced and bred many horses 
in Australia including 1992 Melbourne Cup Winner Subzero and 1994 Golden Slipper Winner Danzero. 
Commercial breeder and owns Musk Creek Farm at Flinders and has approx. 30 mares on the property. 
Worst decision was to sell Pierro as a yearling. Currently races horses with Gai Waterhouse, Anthony 
Freedman, Darren Weir and others.
WHEN NOT AT THE TRACK...Finds therapy with family, friends and the horses at Musk Creek Farm.
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PETER BLUNDEN
JOINED COMMITTEE – March 2014.
TITLE/ MEMBER OF WHICH MVRC COMMITTEES – Committee Member  
Racing Sub Committee
OCCUPATION AND BUSINESS INTERESTS – Victorian Managing Director – Editorial for News 
Corp Australia. Peter has editorial responsibility for all publications of the Herald & Weekly Times 
including the Herald Sun, Sunday Herald Sun, and The Weekly Times, Leader Community 
Newspapers, and the Geelong Advertiser Group. His 40-year career with News Corp Australia 
has taken him from Sydney to Canberra, Adelaide and Melbourne. Peter is a director of the Herald & Weekly Times, the 
Royal Children’s Hospital Foundation, the Good Friday Appeal, the Alannah & Madeline Foundation, and a member of the 
Carbine Club.
RACING INTERESTS AND AFFILIATIONS – Peter is a life-long racing enthusiast and currently races horses with Gai 
Waterhouse and Chris Waller. These have included Excess Knowledge, Viking Legend and Kontiki Park.
WHEN NOT AT THE TRACK...Richmond Football Club, Melbourne Storm Rugby League Club, tennis, travel and family.

DAVID SINN 
JOINED COMMITTEE – August 2016.
TITLE/ MEMBER OF WHICH MVRC COMMITTEES – Committee Member, Master 
Plan Sub Committee.
QUALIFICATIONS – David has a Bachelor of Laws/Economics – Monash University.
OCCUPATION AND BUSINESS INTERESTS – Head of Real Estate – Asia Pacific  
at Herbert Smith Freehills.
RACING INTERESTS AND AFFILIATIONS – David has raced and bred many horses in 
Australia and New Zealand including 2007 Victoria Derby winner Kibbutz, Dany the Fox and Tall Ship. 
WHEN NOT AT THE TRACK...David enjoys spending time with his family and attending various sporting 
activities that his children are involved in. 

ADAM LENNEN 
JOINED COMMITTEE – May 2017
TITLE/ MEMBER OF WHICH MVRC COMMITTEES – Committee Member. 
QUALIFICATIONS – Bachelor of Commerce (Honours), The University of Melbourne
OCCUPATION AND BUSINESS INTERESTS – Managing Director and Co-Head of 
Equity Capital Markets, Australia at Credit Suisse
RACING INTERESTS AND AFFILIATIONS – Member of the MVRC, VRC, MRC and 
MCC.  Has raced a number of horses including stakes winners Demerger, Vigor, 
Ferocity, Barbaricus, Blessum, Villain and Immortality 
WHEN NOT AT THE TRACK...Supporting Uni Blues Football Club, watching AFL and cricket and spending 
time with my family

SU-ANN KHAW  
JOINED COMMITTEE – May 2017
TITLE/ MEMBER OF WHICH MVRC COMMITTEES – Committee Member.
Membership, Marketing & Commercial Sub Committee
QUALIFICATIONS – Bachelor of Commerce - Curtin University of Technology  
Languages: English, Hokkien, Cantonese, Malay, Basic Japanese.
OCCUPATION AND BUSINESS INTERESTS – Bloodstock & Business Development 
Consultant.  Racing Consultant & Co-Executive Producer - Ride Like A Girl - The 
Michelle Payne Film 
RACING INTERESTS AND AFFILIATIONS – Su-Ann’s raced in Australia for a number of years and involved 
in the ownership of Group One winners; Allez Wonder, Allez Suez, Wonderful World, God’s Own and Global 
Glamour. 
In the past nine years, Su-Ann has travelled and worked at Thoroughbred sales throughout Europe, 
US, Japan, South Africa and Australasia. Su-Ann attends most of the major International race meetings 
throughout the year coinciding with her work commitments and travels. 
WHEN NOT AT THE TRACK…Su-Ann enjoys foodie adventures during her travels and finding the best way 
to enjoy each city like a local. Su-Ann documents her insight on the Thoroughbred industry and snippets of 
her travels on social media @inkmarksofsu on Twitter and Instagram. 

MICHAEL BROWELL 
JOINED COMMITTEE – August 2008
TITLE/ MEMBER OF WHICH MVRC COMMITTEES – Chief Executive Officer,  
Moonee Valley Racing Club.  
Membership, Marketing & Commercial Sub Committee  
Master Plan Sub Committee  
Racing Sub Committee 
Finance, Risk, Compliance and Audit Sub Committee
QUALIFICATIONS – Bachelor of Business at LaTrobe University
OCCUPATION AND BUSINESS INTERESTS – 1995 to 2000; Assistant Secretary at Bendigo Jockey Club. 
2001 to 2008; Chief Executive Officer at Mornington Racing Club. 2008 to present; Chief Executive Officer 
at Moonee Valley Racing Club
RACING INTERESTS AND AFFILIATIONS – Michael is very passionate about the future of Moonee Valley 
and the role it plays in the Victorian Racing Industry, particularly with the night racing product and attracting 
international participation in the W.S. Cox Plate.
WHEN NOT AT THE TRACK…Michael enjoys golf, travel and spending quality time with family and friends.
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LUKE 
KINNIBURGH
General Manager  
– Catering

MICHAEL 
BROWELL
Chief Executive

BRUCE  
CLARKE
Chief Financial Officer

LIAM  
SMITH 
General Manager 
– Racing Operations

MARK 
HENDERSON
Legends  
– Venue Manager

BLAIR 
CROUCH
General Manager 
– Marketing  
& Commercial

DAVID  
SINCLAIR
Head of 
Development

MVRC EXECUTIVESCOMMITTEE ATTENDANCES

COMMITTEE ELIGIBLE ATTENDED
Mr D C Casboult 10 10
Mr B G Kruger 10 10
Mr J L Blight 10 9
Mr D H Kobritz 10 9
Mr P J Blunden 10 8
Mr D Sinn – appointed 2 August, 2016 9 8
Mr A C Lennen – appointed 30 May, 2017 - -
Ms S Khaw – appointed 30 May, 2017 - 1
Mr M K Ralston – retired 28 March, 2017 7 4
Ms K O’Sullivan – resigned 26 April, 2017 8 6
Ms E Boling – retired 30 May, 2017 9 7
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2016/17  
CHAIRMAN & 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
REPORT
As we look back at the 2016 / 17 season, the Moonee Valley Racing 
Club has made significant progress in a number of important areas of our 
business that will strengthen our Club for many years to come.  We have 
focussed on a number of key projects that drive the financial success of 
our Club, and we achieved tremendous outcomes on a number of these 
throughout the year. 

Racing is our core business – this is why we exist.  We take great pride 
in our racing programme here at The Valley, with the world-renowned 
W S Cox Plate and of course our night racing product.  The MVRC was 
honoured to see the 2016 W S Cox Plate rated the equal highest rated 
turf race in the world at the Longines World’s Best Race ceremony held 
in London in January.  This was achieved as a result of Winx winning the 
96th renewal of our signature race by a record 8 lengths, and the highly 
rated Hartnell, Yankee Rose and Vadamos finishing 2nd, 3rd and 4th.  Only 
the 2016 Breeders’ Cup Dirt rated higher than the W S Cox Plate, after 
Arrogate narrowly defeated California Chrome.  

At these same awards, Winx was crowned the highest rated turf horse and 
highest rated mare in the world.  This is fabulous recognition of Winx, with 
her incredible winning performances internationally recognised.  

The 2016 William Hill Cox Plate was billed as a ‘Match Race’ between 
Winx and the Godolphin star Hartnell.  Spruikers and pundits alike built this 
great race up as the modern day ‘Race of the Century’, comparing it to the 
classic 1986 edition when Bonecrusher and Our Waverley Star delivered 
one of the greatest Cox Plate duels – going stride for stride for 800 metres.  
That day, Bonecrusher ‘raced into equine immortality’, and we dared to 
dream that The Valley would play host to another epic edition of the Cox 
Plate.
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Winx, and jockey Hugh Bowman had other ideas. On what was perhaps the 
coldest Cox Plate Day in history, racegoers were in awe as Winx delivered her 
peak performance, turning the supposed ‘Match Race’ into a one-horse affair.  
When Winx breezed past Hartnell under the Legends balcony, the race was 
effectively over. Leaving Hartnell and all others in her wake, Bowman urged 
Winx onto a record breaking 8 length victory – surpassing the previous 7 length 
margin shared by 1979 champion Dulcify and 2000 champion Sunline. 

With a winning sequence that commenced on the Sunshine Coast track in May 
2015, Winx arrived at Moonee Valley with a picket fence of 4 wins in 2015, 
and this was extended to 12 leading into the 2016 Cox Plate. Heading into 
the 2017 Spring Carnival, this winning sequence now sits at 17, and looks to 
extend further as she heads towards the 2017 WS Cox Plate, aiming to join the 
immortal Kingston Town as a three-time Cox Plate champion. 

Trainer Chris Waller and jockey Hugh Bowman are to be congratulated on the 
way that they have managed Winx’s training and racing program over the past 
two years. Like a fine red wine, Winx appears to be getting better with age, and 
it could be that her best is yet to come. We look forward to the 2017 Spring 
Carnival, and welcoming Winx and connections back to Moonee Valley for the 
2017 WS Cox Plate. 

The two-day Cox Plate Carnival continues to grow each season, with 5 
successful Carnivals now delivered. The quality of the racing, the attendance 
and the support of our members, and the wagering results show that the 
double-header has been a great success. Manikato Stakes night saw a crowd of 
8,195 in attendance, and pleasingly, we set a new record for turnover on a night 
racing meeting, with $37.71m wagered across the night (up 18.8%)

Rebel Dane delivered a boil-over result in the $1M Group William Hill Manikato 
Stakes at odds of $61, after having previously finished 3rd (2015) 4th (2014) and 
5th (2013) in the race. Trainer Gary Portelli celebrated the 2nd Group 1 victory 
for his entire, having won the 2013 Rupert Clarke Stakes at Caulfield. 

The Charter Keck Moir Stakes attracted a high-quality field of Group 1 sprinters, 
and it was the Mick Price trained 3yo Extreme Choice that was victorious. After 
winning 3 of his first 4 starts, including the Blue Diamond Stakes, Extreme 
Choice showed he had made the leap from high class 2yo to a top line 3yo 
sprinter, defeating the likes of Chautauqua, Buffering and Redzel.  

The final Group 1 of the season at The Valley was the Keogh Homes William 
Reid Stakes in March, and we saw history made when Katelyn Mallyon guided 
Silent Sedition to victory. It was Katelyn’s first Group 1 win, and the first Group 1 
win by a female jockey at Moonee Valley. 

Congratulation to all winning connections that celebrated success here at The 
Valley throughout the 2016/17 season.  

At the conclusion of the season, the Club farewelled Principal Partner William 
Hill after an 8 year partnership – the last 5 years as the sponsor of the WS Cox 
Plate, Manikato Stakes and Cox Plate Carnival. The Club shared a wonderful 
partnership with Sportingbet in the first instance, and I thank Michael Sullivan for 
his support of racing here at The Valley. After William Hill acquired Sportingbet, 
this relationship continued for a further two years. I thank William Hill Chief 
Executive Officer Tom Waterhouse and his team for being wonderful partners for 
the MVRC for such an extended period.  

On 1 August 2017, the MVRC commenced a long-term partnership with 
Ladbrokes, in a deal that encompasses the key assets of the Club, including the 
W S Cox Plate, the Manikato Stakes, our night racing season and 55 Second 
Challenge. We look forward to working closely with the Ladbrokes team to 
further elevate racing at Moonee Valley. 

The Club has achieved significant progress throughout the past year with our 
Moonee Valley Racecourse Master Plan project. The Club engaged leading 
property advisory firm Charter Keck Cramer to take our project to market, 
firstly through market soundings with leading industry players and then a formal 
Expressions of Interest campaign late last year.  

Over the past 7 years, the Club has been fully committed to seeing our vision 
for the transformation of our Racecourse become a reality. We have worked 
diligently with our consultant team, the Moonee Valley City Council and the State 
Government to achieve an outstanding outcome for the Club, with planning 
controls locked in that will allow our project to proceed with certainty.  

The quality of the proposals from leading property developers was first-class, 
with many exciting interpretations on what we could create on our wonderful 40 
hectare site. The integration of the new racing precinct with the residential, retail 
and commercial precincts will deliver a high-quality development focused heavily 
on the liveability of the site, ensuring all new residents feel a deep connection 
with the Club and our racing activities.  
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AWAITING CONTENT

We are currently finalising negotiations with our preferred development partner, 
and we look forward to making an announcement to our members in the near 
future.  

A key contributor to the operations of the Club is our Legends gaming venue.  
Legends has continued to improve its trading results, with gaming turnover 
posting its best result since the change-over in the venue operating model in 
2012. Our catering division posted a small profit, which is a vastly improved 
position on recent results. 

In May, the Club secured The Junction Club, on the corner of Dean Street and 
Mt Alexander Road – just 400 metres from the Racecourse. The Junction Club 
operates 80 gaming machines, and turnover is on par with the 105 machines at 
Legends. Wagering is also very strong at The Junction which is complementary 
to our core activities. We now operate both venues that are closest to the 
Moonee Valley Racecourse, and we believe that this acquisition will provide 
long-term benefits to the Club and our members. 

The three metropolitan clubs and Racing Victoria have recently negotiated a new 
three-year Club Funding Agreement which will see the MVRC receive a 50% 
uplift in industry funding through wagering returns, infrastructure and meeting 
payments. The Agreement now provides the Club with certainty through a 
critical period of our operations as we commence our Master Plan project.  

Additionally, we have reached agreement with Racing Victoria on an important 
amendment to our Media Rights Agreement, with the Club to receive a 
significant uplift through both domestic and international media rights. 

Our next focus will be on increasing our prizemoney funding through Racing 
Victoria, with particular focus on the W S Cox Plate and our other feature Group 
1 and Group 2 races, as well as our Premium Night Racing meetings.    

We were all saddened to hear of the passing of former MVRC Chairman Geoff 
Torney in June. Geoff made a significant contribution to the MVRC throughout 
his time on the Committee, particularly with The Valley creating history and 
becoming the first metropolitan club to pioneer Night Racing in Australia in 
1998, and increasing the prizemoney for the W S Cox Plate to $3M. The 
prizemoney increases were a result of the implementation of the Cox Plate into 
the Emirates World Series Racing Championship, which first launched in 1999. 
The Cox Plate was the standalone Australian race of the twelve-race series. 

The Committee of the MVRC has undergone significant changes over the past 
year, with the retirement of Martin Ralston (2001 – 2017), Emma Boling (2002 – 
2017), Brian Kruger (2006 – 2017), and Kate O’Sullivan (2012 – 2017). I thank 
Martin, Emma, Brian and Kate for their exceptional service to the Moonee Valley 
Racing Club throughout their tenure on the Committee. Each made a significant 

contribution to the Club with the specific areas of interest, and helped guide the 
Club towards the successful future that awaits.  

I congratulate Brian Kruger on his recent appointment as Chairman of Racing 
Victoria. The MVRC looks forward to working closely with Brian and his fellow 
Board members for the betterment of the Victorian Racing Industry and racing 
here at Moonee Valley

We have welcomed Su-Ann Khaw, Adam Lennen and Anthony Durakovic to 
fill three of these vacancies. Su-Ann, Adam and Anthony are well qualified and 
highly credentialed to make a positive contribution to the MVRC. 

I thank all Committee members for their continued support and contribution to 
the Club. We have faced significant challenges in recent years, and it is through 
the efforts of the Committee and staff that we continue to prosper.  

The MVRC enjoys a great working relationship with Racing Victoria, the Victoria 
Racing Club, the Melbourne Racing Club and Country Racing Victoria. I thank 
the Boards and Executives from these Industry partners for their continued 
support. 

I also thank our valued members of the MVRC for your support of our great 
Club. The 2017 / 18 season promises to be a very special one for the Club with 
super-mare Winx set to return to try a win her third W S Cox Plate, and the 
finalisation of our Development Agreement for the Moonee Valley Racecourse 
Master Plan. I look forward to sharing these highlights with the members the 
Moonee Valley Racing Club. 

 
Don Casboult					     Michael Browell

Chairman					     Chief Executive
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2016  
WILLIAM HILL 
COX PLATE 
CARNIVAL
If we weren’t blown away on William Hill Cox Plate Day in 
2015, we certainly were in 2016.

She was at her best. She took our breath away. 

While a high-quality field of ten runners greeted the starter 
in the 2016 William Hill Cox Plate, the 2040m feature was 
touted as a race in two; Winx and Hartnell. In his last Cox 
Plate as racecaller, as both Winx and Hartnell gapped the 
field on the home turn, Greg Miles called “and the great race 
is on”, but as quickly as it was on, it was over. Winx sprinted 
clear of the field, winning the 96th W.S Cox Plate in a record 
eight length margin and in the process, cementing her 
position as the highest rated turf horse and mare in the world 
in the Longines World’s Best Racehorse Rankings.

The quality of thoroughbred she left in her wake saw the 2016 
William Hill Cox Plate rated the equal second highest rated 
race in the world and the equal highest rated turf race in the 
world in the Longines World’s Best Race Rankings. This is the 
highest rated race ever run in Australia since the introduction 
of the rating system. 

The Carnival’s feature races were backed up by a solid 
support program where Chris Waller also came to the fore 
with Grand Marshal defeating his stablemate Who Shot 
Thebarman in the $300,000 Group 2 Antler Luggage Moonee 
Valley Gold Cup (2500m). For the second consecutive year, 
The United States proved successful, this year in the Group 
2 Schweppes Crystal Mile (1600m) ridden by Kerrin McEvoy. 
Meanwhile, Nurse Kitchen took out the Group 2 P.W. Glass 
Fillies Classic (1600m) for David Brideoake, while New 
Zealand gelding Sacred Elixir was successful in the Group 2 
LUCRF Super Vase (2040m).
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While the William Hill Cox Plate played in the favour of punters, Friday night’s 
$1M Group 1 William Hill Manikato Stakes (1200m) provided an upset result 
when Rebel Dane stole the show in the richest race under lights. The Gary 
Portelli trained runner was having his fourth start in the race and claimed his 
second Group 1 triumph at odds of $61, the longest priced winner in recent 
history, under the guidance of Ben Melham. Race favourite Chautauqua finished 
seventh; meanwhile 2013 winner Buffering finished sixth and was subsequently 
retired.

Wagering over the William Hill Cox Plate Carnival was up a combined 4% over 
the two days. Turnover on William Hill Cox Plate Day was steady, however the 
William Hill Manikato Stakes turnover increased a staggering 18%, setting a new 
night race meeting record. Hong Kong Jockey Club wagered on the last seven 
races on Cox Plate Day, which resulted in total wagering turnover for the two-
day Carnival increasing by $25.3m to $167 million.

COX PLATE CARNIVAL WEEK EVENTS CONTINUES 
TO BUILD THE EXCITEMENT
The Cox Plate Carnival continues to grow beyond the racing and this year we 
hosted more guests than ever before.

We kicked off with A Legendary Night on September 13 with 150 guests 
honouring 2-time W.S. Cox Plate champion Fields of Omagh (2003 and 2006), 
including hearing from the horse’s 2006 winning jockey in Craig Williams, 
owner and racecaller Bryan Martin and strapper and media commentator Lizzie 
Jelfs. Brilliant interviewing by Bruce Clark saw all those in attendance enjoy a 
thrilling night of stories, laughs, insights and replays, all the while toasting to a 
champion of our Legendary race. 

A hectic Cox Plate Carnival week kicked off with the Breakfast with the Best 
trackwork and the Barrier Draw Breakfast on Tuesday morning, which were 
both broadcast live on Racing.com. The Queen of The Valley herself Winx had 
a gallop on the course before over 50 horses followed for a final tune-up before 
the 18 races ahead. There was a genuine buzz around the course as Winx 
paraded and then strutted her stuff on the track, while her connections were 
thrilled to choose barrier three for the champion mare before Saturday’s big 
race.   

The next exciting event was the sold-out Ladies Lunch for 300 people on the 
Wednesday of Cox Plate week, which is becoming the must-attend event for 
the ladies in racing. The gift bags alone are worth the admission, but a fashion 
show put on by the Miss World Finalists including winner and Cox Plate Fashion 
Ambassador Madeline Cowe was also a big drawcard. Always a fun event 
between the door prizes, live music entertainment and the phantom call by The 
Valley’s own Ben Sporle, ladies are often seen leaving The Valley with a laugh 
and a lifetime of memories.

1  WINX
3RD MARE EVER TO GO 
BACK-TO-BACK
FLIGHT IN 1945-46 | SUNLINE IN 1999-2000

CROWD

COX PLATE CARNIVAL – 34,255

COX PLATE – 26,060
MANIKATO STAKES – 8,195

SEVEN’S COVERAGE OF THE  
2016 COX PLATE REACHED

1.3MILLION 
PEOPLE  
NATIONALLY

COX PLATE WINNING MARGIN – 8 LENGTHS

30,000 
& 73,000 CANAPES SERVED 
DURING COX PLATE WEEK

P L AT E D 
MEALS

DARYL BRAITHWAITE 

102,000 
VIEWS 

COX PLATE CARNIVAL – $149M (+5%)

COX PLATE – $111M (+0.6%)
MANIKATO STAKES – $38M (+19%)
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Racing at The Valley
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A RACING SEASON FULL OF HIGHLIGHTS
It was yet another memorable night racing season at The Valley, the Club’s 20th season since its inception in 
1998.

The Valley’s cult figure Buffering lined up against a crack field in the Group 1 Charter Keck Cramer Moir Stakes 
attempting an unprecedented fourth consecutive victory in the feature race. However, it was the three-year-old 
Extreme Choice from the Mick Price stable who saluted with Heatherly, Wild Rain, Chautauqua and Buffering all 
finishing behind him, resulting in the G1 Moir Stakes being rated the equal 55th highest race in the world for the 
year. 

Moir Stakes Night produced a fantastic night of racing with Tony McEvoy securing a feature race training double 
as Hey Doc won the Group 2 Strathmore Community Bank Stutt Stakes and 30 minutes later Don’t Doubt 
Mamma won the Group 2 Zoustar Stocks Stakes. Moir Stakes Night also set a new Australian night racing 
wagering turnover record with $34.31 million wagered throughout the race meeting, however it was broken 
weeks later on October 21 during the Group 1 William Hill Manikato Stakes night, when an incredible $37.71 
million was recorded in wagering turnover.

While the Group 1 Keogh Homes William Reid Stakes is the last Group 1 of the Victorian racing season each 
year, it provided the first Group 1 victory for trainer Andrew Noblet and jockey Katelyn Mallyon aboard Silent 
Sedition and the first female jockey victory in the history of the Moonee Valley Racing Club.

16 Heats of the Inglis 55 Second Challenge were run and won throughout the night racing season at The Valley 
and it was trainer Russell Bell who took home the $50,000 Inglis voucher after his horse Sirbible took out Heat 5 

in November in the slick time of 54.84, the second fastest time in history.

The racing was competitive amongst the jockey ranks with 49 individual jockeys returning to the Winner’s Circle 
at least once throughout the season, but it was Craig Williams and Beau Mertens who topped the MVRC Jockey 
Premiership with 15 wins and 106 rides each.  

While there were 87 different trainers (and partnerships) winning a race at The Valley in season 2016/17, Darren 
Weir was the clear standout amassing 37 wins, 27 seconds and 20 thirds to claim consecutive MVRC Trainer’s 
Premierships.

The performance of the racing surface itself was exceptional throughout the entire 2016/17 racing season 
and the Moonee Valley Racing Club Track and Grounds team deserve all the credit for consistently presenting 
a surface of such quality. At season’s end, this was acknowledged by the Australian Racecourse Managers 
Association when they recognised MVRC Racecourse Manager Martin Synan as the 2016/17 Australian 
Racecourse Manager of the Year. 

CROWDS AND WAGERING RISE FOR NIGHT RACING AT THE VALLEY
2016/17 was a huge year at The Valley and the Club built on the successes of key initiatives like themed 
meetings, engaging on course big screen production called ‘Valley Time’ and the uniqueness of night 
racing.	  

Since its inception on Australia Day in 1998, Night Racing has continued to go from strength to strength 
and the 2016/17 season saw over $9 million in prizemoney offered across 128 races.  With three Group 
1 feature meetings and events such as the ACJC Chinese New Year, AFL Grand Final Eve and St Paddy’s 
race meetings, the racing public embraced The Valley and the night racing product throughout the racing 
season.

Over 70,754 patrons walked through the turnstiles to enjoy The Valley’s hospitality during the Night Racing 
season, an increase of 6.4% YOY, while despite three less races than the previous season, wagering 
increased by $26.7 million – a rise of 9.35% YOY. 

RACING AT THE VALLEY
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3,267

441
247

52
35

FULL  
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FULL  
MEMBER  

NEW 

SUMMER  
MEMBER 

LIFE  
MEMBER 

ABSENTEE FULL  
MEMBER  
YOUNG  

RENEWALS 

FULL  
MEMBER  
YOUNG  

NEW 

SUMMER  
MEMBER  
YOUNG 

HONORARY  
MEMBER 

518

395

32

138

MVRC MEMBERSHIP
MEMBERS REMAIN THE LIFEBLOOD OF THE CLUB
While the Club aims to increase raceday attendance through many new 
initiatives, members remain at the core of our focus. The membership rate 
remained steady at 5,613 full and young members at a retention rate of 85 
percent, with 836 new members joining the Club.  We offered some outstanding 
incentives to continue membership of the MVRC including discounted 
subscription based on recognition of tenure, an overseas racing experience, 
opportunity for two members to attend the Queen Elizabeth Stakes at Royal 
Randwick and a $1,000 cash giveaway. 
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WE WOULD LIKE TO ACKNOWLEDGE AND THANK ALL OF OUR VALUED 
SPONSORS FOR THEIR CONSISTENT AND UNWAVERING SUPPORT.

COMMUNITY

Advanced  
Mailing Solutions

SAJ Catercare
Quest Moonee Valley

Essendon Nissan
Ranvet

Art Series Hotel Group
K Line Australia

McPhersons  

Printing Group
Strathmore Flowers

Sungold Milk
Dr Sheahan

Simpson Construction
Fisher & Paykel

Grosvenor  
Engineering Group

Marcus Oldham College

United Refrigeration
Australia Chinese Jockey 

Club (ACJC)
Irish Chamber of Commerce
Sweeney Real Estate Agents

ADAPT
John Para

WTPartnership
Browns Sawdust & Shavings

Spicer Thoroughbreds
Thoroughbred Breeders 

Victoria
Ellar Labratories

Hume Collision Centre
Vic Wide Towing

PKF Australia

PRINCIPAL

2016 COX PLATE CARNIVAL

MARKETING &  
COMMERCIAL TEAM
MVRC strives to be an innovative and customer focused organisation and the Marketing & Commercial 
team are dedicated to building world class relationships and delivering excellence in customer servicing.  
Specifically, each Department has focused on:
Commercial partnerships		  Driving mutually beneficial partnerships
Events & Activation 			   Delivering the best event experience 
Fulfilment 				    Delivering the best member & customer experience 
Marketing 				    Promotion of key business units and e-commerce services
Communications 			   Delivering entertaining fan engagement online and on the track 
One of the most significant commercial developments in the Club’s history occurred in March with the 
announcement that our premier Weight-For-Age championship race of Australasia, the W.S. Cox Plate, had 
a new naming rights partner. Leading corporate bookmaker Ladbrokes signed on for a landmark eight-year 
deal and acquired the naming rights to the Cox Plate and Manikato Stakes, the two jewels in the Cox Plate 
Carnival crown. The commercial agreement also included other properties including our premium Friday 
night racing product, which is now known as Ladbrokes Friday Night Lights. 

POSITIONING THE VALLEY IN THE RIGHT MARKETS
Through a number of varied and exciting marketing campaigns, the MVRC has sought to create demand 
for all the activities it runs, including the two venues of Legends and the Junction Club.  Throughout the 
year the Marketing team worked closely with creative agency Magnum Opus Partners to deliver marketing 
campaigns to support the Cox Plate Carnival, Membership, Valley Events, Corporate Racing Functions and 
Friday Night Racing. 
The team also delivered many firsts including a rebrand of the Junction Club, working with specialist data 
agency Datacreative to develop a personalised renewal video for Members and undertaking a significant 
project to redefine The Valley brand.  

RECOGNISING OUR CORPORATE PARTNERS
The Club is grateful for the support provided by our fantastic group of Corporate Partners who allow us to 
successfully conduct all racing and non-racing activity over the season.
In particular we would like to acknowledge and thank the team at Sportingbet for their major partnership 
of the Club for 3 and a half years, as well as Tom Waterhouse and the team at William Hill for the 1 and 
a half years as Major Partner after the acquisition of Sportingbet. All at The Valley thoroughly enjoyed the 
opportunity to work alongside both the team at Sportingbet & William Hill and took great pride in helping to 
build the profile of both brands throughout the year and in particular each year over the Cox Plate Carnival.  
The William Hill brand will forever be prominent in the iconic on track images of Winx & Hugh Bowman as 
they crossed the finish line victorious in both the 2015 & 2016 William Hill Cox Plates.
We would also like to acknowledge and thank City Jeep, Bertocchi, Antler, PW Glass, Merlin Garage Doors 
and LUCRF for their commitment to the Club.

MEDIA PARTNERS
We are proud to receive support from our official media partners of the Moonee Valley Racing Club:

NIGHT RACING PARTNER

OFFICIAL

GROUP 1

 

2524



2016/17 FEATURE RACE 
WINNERS

P.W. GLASS FILLIES  
CLASSIC 
GROUP 2 (1600M)
Prize Money: $200,000
NURSE KITCHEN
Trainer: David Brideoake
Jockey: Kerrin McEvoy

STRATHMORE  
COMMUNITY BANK  
STUTT STAKES 
GROUP 2 (1600M)
Prize Money: $200,000
HEY DOC
Trainer: Tony McEvoy
Jockey: Luke Currie

ZOUSTAR STOCKS  
STAKES 
GROUP 2 (1600M)
Prize Money: $200,000
DON’T DOUBT  
MAMMA
Trainer: Tony McEvoy
Jockey: Dwayne Dunn

MITTY’S RACING  
COLOURS MCEWEN  
STAKES  
GROUP 2 (1000M)
Prize Money: $200,000
WILD RAIN
Trainer: Mark Kavanagh
Jockey: Stephen Baster

DATO’ TAN  
CHIN NAM STAKES 
GROUP 2 (1600M)
Prize Money: $250,000
AWESOME ROCK
Trainer: L&T Corstens
Jockey: Stephen Baster

BROWNS SAWDUST  
& SHAVINGS  
AUSTRALIA STAKES 
GROUP 2 (1200M)
Prize Money: $200,000
MALAGUERRA
Trainer: Peter Gelagotis
Jockey: Ben Melham

LUCRF SUPER VASE 
GROUP 2 (2040M)
Prize Money: $200,000
SACRED ELIXIR
Trainer: Tony Pike
Jockey: Damian Lane

MITCHELTON WINES  
WILLIAM REID STAKES 
GROUP 1 (1200M)
Prize Money: $500,000
SILENT SEDITION
Trainer: Andrew Noblet
Jockey: Katelyn Mallyon

CHARTER KECK  
CRAMER MOIR STAKES 
GROUP 1 (1000M)
Prize Money: $500,000
EXTREME  
CHOICE
Trainer: Mick Price
Jockey: Craig Newitt

WILLIAM HILL 
COX PLATE 
GROUP 1 (2040M)
Prize Money: $3,000,000

WINX 
Trainer: Chris Waller
Jockey: Hugh Bowman

WILLIAM HILL 
MANIKATO STAKES 
GROUP 1 (1200M)
Prize Money: $1,000,000

REBEL DANE
Trainer: Gary Portelli
Jockey: Ben Melham

WILLIAM HILL  
SUNLINE STAKES 
GROUP 2 (1600M)
Prize Money: $200,000
I AM A STAR
Trainer: Shane Nichols
Jockey: Dean Yendall

WILLIAM HILL  
ALISTER CLARK  
STAKES 
GROUP 2 (2040M)
Prize Money: $200,000
HARDHAM
Trainer: David Brideoake
Jockey: Luke Nolen

SCHWEPPES  
CRYSTAL MILE 
GROUP 2 (1600M)
Prize Money: $200,000
THE UNITED  
STATES
Trainer: Robert Hickmott
Jockey: Kerrin McEvoy

ANTLER LUGGAGE  
MOONEE VALLEY  
GOLD CUP 
GROUP 2 (2500M)
Prize Money: $300,000
GRAND MARSHAL
Trainer: Chris Waller
Jockey: Ben Melham
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Sales of the popular Cox Plate charity pins raised much needed funds for The Royal Children’s Hospital 
(RCH) Foundation throughout the 2016 Carnival.

The money was donated to the hospital, with Moonee Valley Racing Club’s CEO Michael Browell presenting 
the RCH’s Community Fundraising Manager Donna Aranyi with a cheque at a race meeting in December.

“I’m delighted to have presented the Royal Children’s Hospital with the money raised from the sales of the 
pins,” Mr Browell said.

“The hospital does a brilliant job in caring for sick children and their families, and we’re extremely proud to 
be involved in helping such a fantastic organisation.

“Well done to everyone involved in the charity pin initiative and a big thank you to everyone who donated 
throughout the Cox Plate carnival.”

Community Update
COX PLATE CHARITY PINS PROVE A WINNER FOR THE  
ROYAL CHILDREN’S HOSPITAL FOUNDATION

“The money raised through the 2016 Cox Plate Charity Pin will support the role of Academic Paediatric 
Surgeon and Director of Trauma Services at the RCH. This position, held by Dr Warwick Teague, directs 
the RCH trauma service and provides academic leadership within the paediatric and neonatal surgery 
department.” Ms Aranyi said.

“As the designated state-wide major trauma centre for paediatrics in Victoria, the RCH sees a vast number 
of critical cases every year. With a responsibility to treat the most severely injured children, it’s essential the 
RCH remains at the forefront of world leading trauma care. As part of his role, Dr Teague leads the team 
which oversees the hospital’s protocols and procedures for care of severely injured children to ensure these 
are maintained and where possible improved.

“The RCH Foundation would like to sincerely thank Michael Browell, Chief Executive, MVRC, Don Casboult, 
Chairman, MVRC, Brenda Hockaday, Daniela Cole, Lyndell Bean and all of the generous community who 
purchased a charity pin this year.”

This was the second year of the charity pin sales and follows on from the huge success of the promotion 
last year, which saw a donation of $9000 made to the RCH Foundation.
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CITY OF MOONEE VALLEY

ROYAL CHILDREN’S HOSPITAL
Through the sale of our annual W.S. Cox Plate Pin & Win 
lapels, the MVRC has donated over $20,000 to help sick 
children across the last two years.

EPWORTH HEALTH CARE
Over 250 patrons attended the Friends of Epworth raceday 
function for Epworth Health Care. The MVRC is a long 
standing partner and contributor of Epworth Health Care 
with funds going to much needed clinical equipment.

NATIONAL JOCKEYS TRUST
The MVRC is pleased to partner with this very important 
cause and this year at the annual NJT T20 Cricket Match 
donated $7,000 by sponsoring W.S. Cox Plate winning 
jockey, Steven Arnold. 

WESTERN HEALTH FOUNDATION 
The fifth annual BreastWest Night at The Valley raised over 
$100,000 towards the Western Health Foundation. Over 550 
people including players from the Western Bulldogs were in 
attendance and entertainment was provided by Kate Ceberano. 

Over $260,000 has been raised since 2005 at the annual 
Mayoral Charity Raceday helping to support various local 
community groups.

BOURKE STREET FUND
The MVRC donated all admission and BBQ takings totalling 
$15,600 from its Australia Stakes race meeting in January to 
the families of those affected by the tragedy. 

E.J. WHITTEN FOUNDATION
E.J. Whitten Foundation Raceday entered its sixth 
consecutive year in 2016 and continues to raise vital funds 
with over $100,000 raised for Prostate Cancer awareness.

WALK FOR PHIL FOUNDATION
The MVRC was proud to partner with the Walk for Phil 
charity in 2017, raising funds for the Pancare Foundation, 
Pinchapoo and Very Special Kids. The 27-kilometre charity 
walked stopped in at The Valley and named in honour of the 
late racing character Phil Sly raising over $100,000 in its 
inaugural year.

MARCUS OLDHAM COLLEGE
A leader in equine education, Marcus Oldham College are 
an integral part of teaching our next generation of industry 
stars. We are pleased to partner with them annually for the 
Marcus Oldham Raceday each December. 

MAKING OUR MARK IN THE COMMUNITY
During 2016/17 season, the Moonee Valley Racing Club provided over $165,689 worth of donations 
and discounts to charities, function clients, Community Groups, Sporting Clubs and schools through the 
Community Council donations
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TECHNOLOGY 

EXPANDING THE NETWORK AND KEEPING US 
CONNECTED
 
The MVRC continues to invest in its IT infrastructure to ensure members, patrons 
and staff are able to utilise modern technologies at the racecourse.

The Club’s Wi-Fi network was expanded to cover additional areas and a new 
portal was introduced to streamline registrations and simplify the process for 
repeat visitors.

The IT team were heavily involved in integrating the Junction Club into MVRC’s 
networks and systems, including PABX, POS, rostering and payroll, and accounts 
payable. Work is ongoing to further standardise the Junction Club network and 
provide the equivalent level of service enjoyed by our other sites and users.

Our IT Managed Service provider, Advantage Technology Solutions, has 
continued to do an excellent job in managing our network and delivering a high 
level of support to the MVRC and third-party users across the season. 

DRIVING FASTER CUSTOMER SERVICE AND 
COMMUNICATION
Working in consultation with the Catering team, the introduction of electronic 
menu boards in many of the Club’s racecourse bars has allowed improved 
communication and better presentation of our products and pricing to all guests. 
These informative and clean displays allow for marketing messages to be played 
throughout the race meetings as well as allowing prices to be easily adjusted as 
necessary.

Further to this, recent upgrades to our POS system have seen payments via 
electronic means continue to grow. As a result, the Club will begin trialling some 
bars on course as “cashless”, meaning card only transactions will be accepted. 
This will result in reduced queue times and will improve revenue reconciliation.

3332



MV LEGENDS 
 

ENJOYS ANOTHER SUCCESSFUL YEAR 
 
Following on from a very strong year in gaming, Legends has posted its best turnover figures in 
over six years, finishing the year 2.9% up. The venue grew its share of the LGA market, moving 
to 7.03%. 

Legends Member numbers have also increased by 13% year on year to see almost 7,000 people 
now have access to the benefits provided at the venue. These numbers are very important as it 
gives Legends the ability to directly target our audience with tailored Food & Beverage, gaming 
and function offers.

The Legends catering department delivered gross food and beverage sales in excess of $2.6M, 
the best result in some years. It was no surprise that our Head Chef Cameron Boyle was also 
nominated for best Club Chef at the CCV Awards held in April.

The catering department constantly works on improving events that deliver key numbers. This 
year the venue opened all three rooms for the first time to seat 443 for lunch on Christmas Day, 
a great result that was well received. With Mother’s Day, New Year’s Eve, Melbourne Cup and 
Oaks day events now a popular staple on the Legends calendar, as well as Chinese New Year 
and Grand Final Eve carvery, the venue is now developing a reputation of delivering every time.

Also implemented in the past year has been the mystery shopper program, tailored specifically 
for Legends that has helped the venue improve the customer service levels across all 
departments.

PROVIDING CUSTOMERS WITH BEST OF BREED IN GAMING
Despite gaming conditions remaining a challenge in the current market, the Legends gaming 
business was again very active throughout the fiscal year in ensuring members and guests were 
provided with the most up-to-date products in the marketplace. Legends purchased 19 new 
EGM’s and upgraded almost as many games, with monthly promotions to members provided as 
an incentive for them to continue to frequent the venue. As in recent years, Legends continues 
to be first to market with new products as well as embracing modern technology that includes 
software upgrades that ensures customers enjoy a seamless gaming experience. 

Our wagering TAB outlet fell just 3% short of its turnover figures from the previous year. Quarter 1 
had an unusually high number of races cancelled in NSW and QLD due to adverse weather that 
impacted results. At $6.5M gross for the financial year, wagering delivered the second highest 
turnover figures of the last four years.

Of significance was the introduction of geo-fencing technology in December 2016. This enabled 
the venue to get a share of commission from punters who were in the venue on their own portable 
devices if they are betting through the TAB App. Such initiatives from the TAB will be crucial in 
getting this new share of wallet.

Honouring our commitment to responsible gaming, the venue was used as a location for a 
responsible gambling campaign earlier in the year that featured on TV, newspapers and billboards.
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EMPLOYEE 
MILESTONES 
CELEBRATED 
THIS SEASON
Congratulations and thank you 
to the following loyal and long-
serving employees who reached 
anniversary milestones during  
the 2016/17 season.

15 YEARS
SAM TANKARD

20 YEARS
GREG SYMONS

20 YEARS
DEAN JURY

25 YEARS
JOHN CASSAR  

30 YEARS
MICHAEL TRAVERS

2016/17 EMPLOYEES
 
89  
FULL TIME STAFF

56  
MALES	

33  
FEMALES

43.4 YEARS  
AVERAGE AGE

9.5 YEARS  
AVERAGE TENURE

800  
CASUAL STAFF 

129,000  
TOTAL HOURS WORKED

PEOPLE AND 
CULTURE
PEOPLE POWER ON DISPLAY AT THE VALLEY
The Moonee Valley Racing Club makes a significant contribution to 
local employment, with over 40% of our talent pool coming from 
residents located within a 10km radius of the Club.
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HR STRATEGY SETS OUT TO PUT PEOPLE FIRST
During the past financial year, the HR Department finalised and published a 
formal HR Strategic Plan document. This plan sets out a series of key HR pillars 
and provides details of the activities and programs that the HR team and senior 
managers will be undertaking in support of the strategy over the coming years.

The key HR pillars identified were:

•	 Attracting and retaining high-quality people

•	 Learning and development

•	 Performance management

•	 Collaboration and communication

•	 Leadership

A significant amount of activity has already taken place in each of the above 
areas and the initial impacts on staff engagement are promising.

SURVEY SAYS

82% of staff are proud to work for MVRC 
73% of staff would recommend MVRC as a great place to work

LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT SHOWS MARKED 
IMPROVEMENT
In line with the HR Strategic Plan, the Club continued to invest heavily in training 
and development, with around 1,400 hours of training completed over the 
season, at an average of 15 hours per staff member.

As part of the PeopleStreme performance management system, all staff 
now have a documented development plan, which has been formulated and 
signed off in conjunction with their manager. KPIs in relation to achieving these 
development plans have been set for all managers, which strengthens the 
message to our employees that developing our internal talent is a key focus for 
the business.

RISK MANAGEMENT 
The MVRC continues to have a huge focus on Workplace Health and Safety 
and were pleased to welcome Wade Dixon to the Club as our new Risk & 
Compliance Manager during the 2016/17 season. 
Some of the key achievements during the year included:
•	Full review and overhaul of the Club’s Emergency Management Plan;
•	Ongoing development of WHS Monitor risk management software, including 

scoping of required changes to the Contractor Induction module;
•	Further implementation of no smoking policies in line with legislative changes;
•	Risk assessments for the use of drones at the racecourse, including during 

race meetings;
•	Continuation of monthly desktop emergency simulations; 
•	Coordination of various training activities – first aid, warden training etc.;
•	Risk assessment and associated tasks on acquisition of Junction Club 

business;

STAFF WELCOMED INTO THE FOLD FROM  
JUNCTION CLUB
The HR team were thrilled to partake in the integration of staff at Junction Club 
into the MVRC business. This involved transferring Junction Club staff across to 
the MVRC award, signing off on position descriptions, creation of development 
plans, inductions, policy compliance work and rostering and payroll services.
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CATERING
DINING OUT ON OUR MOST SUCCESSFUL 
SEASON YET
The catering arm of Valley Events delivered another successful 
season with more than 96,000 guests catered across weddings, 
banquets, conferences, private events and family days. 

Of the 300 plus catered non-raceday events hosted this year, 
41% of them had more than 500 guests in attendance, 35% 
of our events were banquet style with 22% of our events being 
conferences.

Our culinary team also took our food offering to a new level 
throughout the 16/17 racing season – enhanced Member Dining 
options, a five course Dining Box degustation menu and exquisite 
private dining packages for Corporate guests were consistently 
well received.

This season the Catering business also added Moet and Chandon 
to our stable of beverage partners, ensuring Carlton and United 
Breweries and Mitchelton Wines were well supported on our wine 
lists and beverage packages.

BOTTOM’S UP BEER SETS THE TONE FOR 
INNOVATION
After years of research, the Club decided to purchase Bottom’s Up 
beer dispensing units in the hope of increasing turnover and yield 
during our Cox Plate Carnival and busy night racing schedule.

Despite the inclement weather over the Cox Plate Carnival, over 
6,000 units of 425mL beer was sold in over 6 hours, with the 
Bottom’s Up unit in the “Beer Express” lane averaging 140 Litres 
per hour and more than 20% of the total on course draught beer 
was sold through this outlet.

Since the Cox Plate Carnival, the units were relocated to more 
permanent locations so our customers can still benefit from this 
service offering. We have found that people still love to watch the 
units work – the novelty just doesn’t seem to be wearing off. 

Also with our increased community focus, the Club engaged local 
café operators to assist with providing food and coffee solutions in 
our general public and member’s areas, which were popular with 
those in attendance.
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FINANCE
OPERATING PERFORMANCE 
FOR 2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR

The Moonee Valley Racing Club recorded an operating loss 
of $1,070,000 for the year to 31 July, 2017, which was a 
$29,000 improvement on the prior year loss of $1,099,000. 

Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation & Amortisation 
(EBITDA) for the year were $2,485,000 against $2,321,000 in 
the prior year. 

Total revenues were up $1,962,000 (3.9%) and total expenses 
were up $1,933,000 (3.7%) on 2015/16. 

A total of 25 racemeetings were conducted during the 
2016/17 season (prior year = 26). 
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REVENUE 
Industry funding was up $746,000 (3.4%) on the prior year, which is largely 
attributable to changes in the club funding model. The move to a more turnover-
based model saw the Club participate in the upside of increased industry 
wagering revenues over the season, particularly the Spring Carnival period.

Non-raceday catering and gaming revenues were up $848,000 (8.4%) for the 
year, primarily as a result of the acquisition of the Junction Club venue on 15 
May, 2017.  

Other raceday revenue was up $187,000, attributable to grants received from 
the Victorian Racing Industry Fund via their Raceday Attraction Program, which 
supports initiatives aimed at increasing on-course attendances.

EXPENSES 

Prizemoney payments were down $112,000 (0.56%) on prior year due to the 
reduced number of meetings conducted.

Non raceday catering and gaming expenses were up $795,000 (9.0%) with 
a large portion of this attributable to operating costs of the newly-acquired 
Junction Club venue.

Administration costs were up $602,000 (17.8%). This includes increased 
expenditure on the Club’s insurance program (including event cancellation 
and abandonment insurance and cyber risk insurance), public liability claims, 
recruitment costs, plus the addition of a new property division to manage the 
Club’s master plan development. 

Marketing, membership and business development expenses were up $431,000 
(19.2%) as the Club increased its resourcing in this area as part of a long-
term strategy to grow revenues across the racing and non-racing areas of the 
business.

STRONG BALANCE SHEET
The Club continues to boast a strong balance sheet, with net assets of $192.6 
million, down $1.1 million (0.6%) on the previous year.  

The Club continues to generate positive cash flows at an EBITDA level, and 
expects that revenues from its master plan project will begin to flow during the 
2017/18 season.

4746



STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2017

 2017  2016 
 $000  $000 

Income
Thoroughbred racing industry distribution
 - Prizemoney minimums funding 19,425 19,537
 - Program variation fee - 650
 - Other funding 3,479 1,971
Sponsorship & broadcast rights 7,498 7,512
Admissions 1,003 962
Nominations and acceptances 1,190 1,356
Membership subscriptions 1,257 1,398
Raceday catering 6,083 5,657
Other raceday revenue 769 582
Non-raceday catering & gaming revenue 10,922 10,074
Interest received 1 31
Share of Australian Pricing Network profits/(losses) (17) 66
Share of Thoroughbred Racing Productions profits 601 529
Gain/(Loss) on disposal of fixed assets 55 (7)
Other revenue 191 177
Total Income 52,457 50,495 

Expenditure
Returns To Owners
 - Prizemoney 19,735 19,847
 - Other payments & subsidies 282 482
Racecourse maintenance 4,777 4,673
Raceday catering expenses 3,754 3,477
Other raceday expenses 5,139 5,239
Marketing, membership and business development 2,674 2,243
Non-raceday catering & gaming expenses 9,617 8,822
Administration 3,993 3,391
Depreciation/Amortisation 3,389 3,369
Interest Expense 167 51
Total Expenditure 53,527 51,594

Net Surplus/(Loss) (1,070) (1,099)

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
  Revaluation of freehold land - 110,764

Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss) - 110,764
Total Comprehensive Income (1,070) 109,665

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
AS AT 31 JULY, 2017

 2017 2016
 $000  $000 

Current Assets  Note 
Cash and cash equivalents  382 -
Trade and other receivables  4 3,114 1,520
Inventories  854 830
Prepayments  525 389
Financial assets 8 2,662 2,060
Total Current Assets  7,537 4,799

Non-Current Assets  
Property, plant and equipment  5 193,759 194,508
Intangible assets 6 3,579 1,054
Investments in associates 7 - 176
Financial assets 8 1,742 1,742
Total Non-Current Assets  199,080 197,480
Total Assets  206,617 202,279

Current Liabilities  
Bank overdraft  - 739
Trade and other payables 9 3,478 3,681
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 10 3,338 -
Advance fees and subscriptions 11 3,675 2,834
Employee benefits 12 1,167 1,075
Total Current Liabilities  11,658 8,329

Non-Current Liabilities  
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 10 2,025 -
Employee benefits 12 325 271
Total Non-Current Liabilities  2,350 271
Total Liabilities  14,008 8,600
Net Assets  192,609 193,679

Members’ Funds
Accumulated funds 81,350 82,420
Reserves – revaluation of available for sale financial assets 495 495
Reserves – revaluation of land and buildings  110,764 110,764
Total Members’ Funds 192,609 193,679

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2017

 2017 2016
 $000  $000 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities  Note 
Receipts from customers 57,662 51,130
Payments to owners (22,019) (22,362)
Payments to suppliers and employees (34,331)  (30,474)
Goods and services tax received/(paid) (105) 154
Interest paid  (163)  15 

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) From Operating Activities 13 1,043 (1,537)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Payment for business combination 3  (3,000) -
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (1,784) (2,055)
Scheduled payments for Electronic Gaming Machine licences (336) (336)
Payment received from repayment of loan to RSN Racing & Sport - 7
Investment in Racing.com - (666)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment 76 29
Distributions received from equity investments - APN 159 -

Net Cash Outflow From Investing Activities (4,885) (3,021)

Cash Flows From Financing Activites
Proceeds from borrowings 5,000 -
Repayment of borrowings (37)
Net Cash Inflow From Financing Activites 10 4,963 -
Net Increase/(Decrease) In Cash And Cash Equivalents  1,121 (4,558)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (739) 3,819

Cash and Cash Equivalents At End Of  Year 382 (739)

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2017

$000 $000 $000
Members’ 

Funds
Fair Value 

Reserve
Total 

Equity

At 31 July, 2015 83,519 495 84,014

Loss for the year (1,099) - (1,099)
Other comprehensive income - 110,764 110,764

At 31 July, 2016 82,420 111,259 193,679

Loss for the year (1,070) - (1,070)
As at 31 July, 2017 81,350 111,259 192,609

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1.	 GENERAL
Moonee Valley Racing Club Inc. (MVRC or the Club) is a not-for-profit, incorporated association domiciled 
in Victoria, Australia. The registered office of the Club is McPherson Street, Moonee Ponds. The Club’s 
principal activity is that of thoroughbred horse racing. As at 31 July, 2017 the Club had 163 active, full-time 
equivalent employees (2016: 168). 

This financial report for the Moonee Valley Racing Club Inc. for the year ended 31 July, 2017, comprising 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Cash flows, 
Statement of Changes in Equity (and notes to the financial statements that form an integral part of the 
report) was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Committee on 26 September, 2017.

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012, Australian Accounting Standards and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”), and the Club’s 
Rules.

This report is presented in Australian Dollars and all values have been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ($000) unless otherwise stated.

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs, modified 
by the revaluation of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities for which the fair 
value basis of accounting has been applied.

As shown in the Statement of Financial Position, the Club is in a net current liability position of $4.1M as 
of 31 July, 2017 (2016: $3.5M).  Notwithstanding this current deficiency, the financial report has been 
prepared on a going concern basis as the Club is confident it will generate positive cash flows from future 
operations and the Committee believes cash generated from these operations and funds available under 
existing undrawn facilities will be sufficient to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

Changes to Accounting Policies

The Club adopted new and amendments to Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations which 
came into effect during the year ended 31 July 2017. Adoption of these standards did not have a significant 
impact on the financial statements or performance of the Club.

Australian Accounting Standards recently issued or amended but not yet effective

New standards and interpretations that have been issued but not yet effective by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board which are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning after 1 August, 2017 include:

•	 AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and relevant amending standards (effective 1 
August 2018)

•	 AASB 16 Leases (effective 1 August 2019)
•	 AASB 9 Financial Instruments, and relevant amending standards (effective 1 August 2018)

•	 AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (effective 1 August 2019)
•	 AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance 

for Not-For-Profit Entities (effective 1 August 2019)

The Club is currently assessing the impact of these standards but do not expect the new standards to have 
a material impact on the financial statements.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)	Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and 
short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

For the purposes of the statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash 
equivalents as defined above, net of any bank overdrafts.

As at 31 July, 2017 the Club had a $3,000,000 unsecured overdraft facility with the ANZ bank.  

(b)	Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts.  Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. A provision 
for impaired receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the entity will not be able 
to collect all amounts due to the original terms of the receivables. Financial difficulties of the debtor 
and default payments are considered objective evidence of impairment. Bad debts are written off when 
identified.

(c)	Investment in associates
The Club has a 16.67% investment in Australian Prices’ Network.  The Club is of the opinion that this 
investment represents a significant influence in accordance with AASB 128: Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures, in that the Club has a representation on the governing body of the business and participates 
in decisions regarding distribution of funds to shareholders.  As such the investment in this associate is 
accounted for under the equity method.

The Club is of the opinion that its 25% investment in Thoroughbred Racing Productions (Vic) Pty Ltd 
represents a significant influence and as such the investment in this associate is accounted for under the 
equity method.

Under the equity accounting method:

•	 The initial investment is recorded at cost; 
•	 The investment is subsequently adjusted by the investor’s share of the associate’s change in net assets 

(i.e. profits and reserve movements after date of acquisition);
•	 The investor’s income statement reflects its share of the investee’s profit or loss for the same period.
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(d)	Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets

The Club has classified its investments in the following entity as available-for-sale financial assets:

•	 RSN Racing & Sport (formerly Sport 927)
•	 Racing.com
Available-for-sale financial assets are stated at fair value. Fair value is determined with reference to current 
or recent market transaction price, or in the absence of this, in accordance with generally accepted pricing 
models based on discounted cash flow analysis. 

For Available-for-sale financial investments, the Club assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in the available-for-sale 
revaluation reserve, until the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the available-for-sale revaluation reserve is reclassified to 
profit or loss for the period.

Loans 

Loans and other receivables are recorded at amortised cost less impairment.  

(e)	Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly 
attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities that are yield related 
are included as part of the carrying amount of the loans and borrowings.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Club has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
(i.e. an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to prepare for its intended use or sale) 
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they 
occur.

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing 
of funds. The Club does not currently hold qualifying assets but, if it did, the borrowing costs directly 
associated with this asset would be capitalised (including any other associated costs directly attributable to 
the borrowing and temporary investment income earned on the borrowing).

(f)	 Impairment
At each reporting date, the Club reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 

indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other 
assets, the Club estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which 
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, 
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case 
the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

(g)	Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling 
expenses.

(h)	Trade and other payables
Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the Club prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Club 
becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services.

(i)	 Property, plant and equipment
The Club has elected to use the cost model to measure the value of property, plant and equipment 
subsequent to initial recognition.  Under the cost model, the carrying amount of each item within the entire 
class of property, plant and equipment is its cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

The exception to this cost model is for land assets where the Club has elected to adopt the revaluation 
method. Under the revaluation method land assets are carried at fair value.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each part of an item of 
property, plant and equipment. Assets costing less than $1,000 are written off in the financial year of 
purchase. Freehold land is not depreciated.

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

•	 Buildings	 30-50 years
•	 Plant and equipment	 3-20 years

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY, 2017

54 55



Costs incurred in relation to the securing of planning permissions for the Club’s Master Plan project are 
capitalised in accordance with AASB 116 – Property, Plant and Equipment, when it is probable that 
economic benefits will flow to the Club in the future.  
 
(j)	 Leases
Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic 
substance of the agreement, so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.

Operating Leases

The minimum lease payments of operating leases, where the lessor effectively retains all of the risks and 
benefits of ownership of the leased item, are recognised as an expense to profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis.

Finance Leases

Leases that effectively transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the 
leased item to the Club are capitalised at the present value of minimum lease payments and disclosed 
as property, plant and equipment under lease. A lease liability of equal value is also recognised, and is 
determined in accordance with AASB 117: Leases. Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the 
shorter of the estimated useful life of the assets and the lease term. Minimum lease payments are allocated 
between interest expense and the reduction of the lease liability, with the interest expense calculated using 
the interest rate implicit in the lease, and recognised directly in net profit.

(k)	Income tax
The Club is exempt from income tax under Section 50–45 item 9.1(a) of the Income Tax Assessment Act 
(1997) as amended.

(l)	 Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the entity and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is not recognised until control of the goods has passed to the 
buyer or services have been completed.

(m)	 Contributions & grants
Contributions and grants received during the year are recognised as income when it is probable that 
economic benefits will flow to the Club and the amount can be measured reliably.  Income is not recognised 
until the Club obtains control or the right to receive the contribution or grants.

(n)	Provisions and employee benefits
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Club has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Club expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance 

contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 
certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of comprehensive income net 
of any reimbursement.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required 
to settle the present obligation at the reporting date. The discount rate used to determine the present value 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The 
increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised in finance costs.

Employee benefits

(i) Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating 
sick leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of 
employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled. Expenses for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave 
is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable.  Annual leave entitlements expected to be settled 
after the next 12 months are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government 
bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 
outflows.

(ii) Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the 
projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience 
of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(o)	Intangible Assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Intangible assets are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there 
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation 
method for intangible assets are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the 
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the 
asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as 
changes in accounting estimates.

(p)	Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

•	 where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part 
of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expenditure; or
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•	 for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST; or
•	 for expenditure commitments which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash 
flows arising from investing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
classified as an operating cash flow.

(q)	Key management personnel
For the purposes of AASB 124: Related Party Disclosures, key management personnel are defined as the 
Chief Executive and all Senior Managers.

(r)	Comparative amounts
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to accord with the current year’s presentation. The 
reclassification of comparative amounts has not resulted in a change to the aggregate amounts of Current 
Assets, Non-Current Assets, Current Liabilities, Non-Current Liabilities or Equity, or the Net Loss of the 
Club as reported in the prior year financial report.

3.	 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
On 15 May, 2017 MVRC acquired 100% ownership of The Junction Club, a licensed Club located in the 
suburb of Moonee Ponds.  In exchange for the purchase consideration, the MVRC received use of the 
business name, a long-term leasehold agreement over the property, the transfer of the gaming machine 
entitlements (GMEs) for the 80 machine held at the venue, and the plant and equipment associated with the 
operation.

MVRC acquired The Junction Club to further diversify its revenue streams, and to leverage on its expertise 
in food and beverage operations and gaming venue management. The venue is geographically close to the 
MVRC racecourse site and will benefit directly from the expected increase in local residents associated with 
the forthcoming racecourse redevelopment project.

Amounts owing to the Victorian Commission for Gambling and Liquor Regulation (VCGLR) from the initial 
purchase of the GMEs were fully paid by the vendor on completion of the sale of business.

The MVRC has elected to measure the acquisition at fair value.

Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of The Junction Club as at the date of acquisition 
were:

Fair value 
recognised on 

acquisition 
$000 

Assets

Fixed assets (i) 201
Cash floats 72

Inventories 24

Rent prepayment 27
  324

Liabilities

Employee leave benefits (72)

Gaming jackpot liability (14)

(86)

Total Identifiable net assets at fair value 238

Gaming machine entitlements/licences (ii) 2,499

Goodwill (iii) 300

Total purchase consideration transferred 3,037

i.	 A valuation of fixed assets acquired was performed by PP&E Valuations, an accredited, independent 
valuer who has over 50 years of valuation experience in Australia.

ii.	The value attributed to gaming machine entitlements is calculated as the net present value of expected 
profits generated by the gaming machines over the remaining life of the licences obtained. The 
licences acquired remain valid until August, 2022.

iii.	The goodwill recorded reflects the value of MVRC’s continued tenure at the venue past the expiration 
date of the current gaming entitlements (August, 2022), as well as  MVRC’s preferred status when 
renewing gaming licence entitlements post the expiration of the current license regime.

This amount is subject to annual impairment testing.
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4.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2017 2016

$000 $000

Current

Trade debtors 2,473 957

Less provision for impairment loss - -

2,473 957

Sundry debtors 641 563

3,114 1,520

The trade debtors balance as at 31 July, 2017 includes a $2,200,000 (including GST) receivable from 
Racing Victoria Limited (RVL), which was subsequently received post-balance date. 

Trade debtors are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms. A provision for impairment loss is 
recognised where there is objective evidence that an individual trade debtor is impaired.

The ageing analysis of trade debtors was as follows:

2017 2016
 $000  $000 

Not yet due 97 628
0-30 days past due - not imapaired 2,321 308

31-60 days past due - not impaired 31 -
+61 days - not impaired 24 21
+61 days - considered imapired - -

Total 2,473 957

Other balances within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. It is 
expected that these other balances will be received when due.

Due to the short-term nature of those receivables classified as current, their carrying value is assumed to 
approximate their fair value. Receivables classified as non-current have been discounted to present value 
using the appropriate BBSW rate.

Bank Bill Swap Rates (BBSW)

Period  2017 2016

90 Days 1.70% 1.75%

1 Year 1.45% 0.90%

2 Years 1.58% 1.01%

The Club’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables. Collateral is not held as 
security, nor is it the Club’s policy to transfer or on-sell receivables to special purpose entities.

5.	 PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Construction 
Works in 
Progress

Freehold  
Land

Buildings and 
Infrastructure

Plant and 
Equipment Artworks Totals

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Cost
Balance at 1 August 2015 4,352 41,888 44,390 29,645 354 120,629
Additions 2.055  -  -  -  - 2,055
Transfers (5,476) 4,275 66 1,135 -  - 
Revaluation of land - 110,764 - - - 110,764
Disposals/scrapped  - - - (107) - (107)

Balance at 31 July 2016 931 156,927 44,456 30,673 354 233,341

Balance at 1 August 2016 931 156,927 44,456 30,673 354 233,341
Additions 1,676 312  - 399 - 2,387
Transfers (1,014) - - 1,014 - -
Revaluation of land  - - - -  - -
Disposals/scrapped  - - - (108)  - (108)

Balance at 31 July 2017 1,593 157,239 44,456 31,978 354 235,620

Depreciation
Balance at 1 August 2015  -  - 16,598 18,840 272 35,710
Depreciation/Amortisation  -  - 1,260 1,919 14 3,193
Transfers  -  - - - - -
Disposals/scrapped - - - (70) - (70)

Balance at 31 July 2016 - - 17,858 20,689 286 38,833

Balance at 1 August 2016 - - 17,858 20,689 286 38,833
Depreciation/Amortisation - - 1,196 1,904 14 3,114
Transfers - - - - - -
Disposals/scrapped - - - (86) - (86)

Balance at 31 July 2017 - - 19,054 22,507 300 41,861

Net Carrying Amount

As at 31 July 2016 931 156,927 26,598 9,984 68 194,508

As at 31 July 2017 1,593 157,239 25,402 9,471 54 193,759
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Land Acquisition

During the financial year the Club was able to buy back a parcel of land that had previously been 
compulsorily acquired by the Linking Melbourne Authority as part of the defunct East-West  Link Project.

Fair value measurement disclosures for land valuations are provided in Note 15.

6.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Gaming 
Machine 
Licences

Goodwill Totals

$000 $000 $000

Cost

Balance at 1 August, 2015 1,738 - 1,738
Additions - - -
Acquisition - - -

Balance at 31 July, 2016 1,738 - 1,738

Balance at 1 August, 2016 1,738 - 1,738
Additions - - -
Acquisition 2,499 300 2,799

Balance at 31 July, 2017 4,237 300 4,537

Amortisation and impairment

Balance at 1 August, 2015 509 - 509
Amortisation 175 - 175
Impairment - - -

Balance at 31 July, 2016 684 - 684

Balance at 1 August, 2016 684 - 684
Amortisation 274 - 274
Impairment - - -

Balance at 31 July, 2017 958 - 958

Net Carrying Amount

As at 31 July 2016 1,054 - 1,054

As at 31 July 2017 3,279 300 3,579

At balance date the Club holds 105 gaming machine entitlements (GMEs) at the Legends venue. A further 
80 GMEs were acquired at the Junction Club venue during the year. All of these GMEs will be valid until 
August, 2022.

At 31 July, 2017 the Club has one quarterly instalment of $79,250 remaining to complete the deferred 
purchase of the GMEs at Legends. This amount is due to be paid in August 2017. Per Note 3, there are no 
outstanding instalments for the purchase of GMEs applicable to the Junction Club venue, as these were 
settled at the time the business was acquired.

The intangible asset held for the GMEs at Legends is initially recorded at the present value of the future 
licence payments and subsequently amortised over its useful life.

Acquisitions

The valuation methodology for the GME licences acquired at Junction Club is disclosed in Note 3 (ii). The 
entitlements will be amortised over their useful life.

The valuation methodology for goodwill purchased as part of the Junction Club acquisition is disclosed in 
Note 3 (iii) and will be subject to annual impairment testing.

Given the short period of time between the acquisition of the Junction Club and the reporting date, the 
Club does not believe there are any indicators of impairment of goodwill as at 31 July, 2017.

7.	 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
As at 31 July, 2016 the Club had a 16.67% interest in Australian Prices’ Network (APN) and the business 
ceased providing services during the current year.  Accordingly the Club has written-off its investment in 
APN during the financial year.

 2017 2016
 $000  $000 

Investments in associates – APN

Movement in investments in APN

Equity accounted amount of investment at the beginning of the financial year 176 110
Share of profit from ordinary activities - 66
Cash distribution recevived (159) -

Writedown (17) -

Equity accounted amount of investment at the end of the financial year - 176

The Club has a 25% interest in Thoroughbred Racing Productions (Vic) Pty Ltd (TRP). The principal activity 
of TRP is the provision of outside broadcasting services to Victorian racing clubs.  

The activities of TRP are conducted via the Victorian Thoroughbred Outside Broadcasting (VTOB) Fixed 
Trust, with TRP the responsible entity.  Under the trust deed of the VTOB Fixed Trust, the Club is entitled to 
receive income distributions from the fixed trust. 
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Although income distributions have been declared from the VTOB Fixed Trust, the Club has agreed to leave 
these funds in the business in order to fund ongoing operations. A Loan Facility Deed has been signed by 
the Club for the value of these distributions. As such, the Club’s share of distributable income is effectively 
reflected as a loan – refer Note 8 – Financial Assets.

As at 30 June, 2017 TRP reported a net asset position of $100. The investment in the Club’s accounts as 
at 31 July, 2017 will therefore be recognised at $25.

2017 2016

$000 $000

Investments in associates – TRP

Movement in investments in TRP

Equity accounted amount of investment at the beginning of the financial year - -
Share of profit from ordinary activities 609 619
Distribution of income receivable (609) (619)

Equity accounted amount of investment at the end of the financial year - -

Movement in receivables from TRP

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 2,060 1,531
Adjustment to prior year receivables (7) (90)
Distribution of income receivable 609 619

Balance at the end of the financial year 2,662 2,060

Summarised financial information – TRP

Financial position
Total assets 11,693 9,477
Total liabilities (#) 11,693 9,477
Net assets - -
# includes total income distributable to beneficiaries 10,647 8,241
MVRC share of income distributable to beneficiaries 2,662 2,060

Financial performance
Total revenue 11,910 11,588
Total profit for year 2,437 2,474

(*) Note: TRP financial year ends on 30 June, 2017.

8. FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 2017 2016
 $000  $000 

Current

Thoroughbred Racing Productions (i) 2,662 2,060

2,662 2,060

Non-current

Available-for-sale financial assets (ii)
  Investment in RSN Racing & Sport 1,076 1,076
  Investment in Racing.com 666 666

1,742 1,742

i.	 Monies receivable from TRP (representing the Club’s share of income distributable from the VTOB Fixed 
Trust) are classified as a financial asset in accordance with the Loan Trust Deed signed by the Club.  
Funds are non-interest bearing and are repayable at call.  Movements in the receivable balance are 
disclosed in Note 7.

ii.	 Available-for-sale investments consist of unlisted ordinary shares and therefore have no fixed maturity 
date or coupon rate.

The fair value of the unlisted available-for-sale financial assets has been estimated using valuation 
techniques based on the assumptions outlined in Note 2(d). In some cases these techniques are not 
supported by observable market prices or rates. Management believes the estimated fair values reflected 
in the Statement of Financial Position are reasonable and appropriate, and that changing any of the 
assumptions to a reasonably possible alternative would not result in a significantly different value.

9.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 2017 2016
 $000  $000 

Current

Trade Payables 1,587 1,829
Sundry creditors 1,891 1,852

3,478 3,681

Trade creditors are non interest-bearing and are subject to payment terms of between 7 and 30 days. Due 
to the short term nature of these payables their carrying value is assumed to approximate fair value.

The current sundry creditors balance includes gaming entitlements (relating to the Legends Gaming venue) 
purchased and payable over a five year period (via quarterly instalments – see note 6  Intangible Assets) 
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with the final instalment due August, 2017.  The liability is recorded at its amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method.  The Club’s implicit borrowing rate of 6.0% is used in determining the amortised cost.

10.	 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Interest Rate Maturity 2017 2016

$000 $000

Current interest bearings loand and borrowings

Obligations under finance lease contracts 4.65% 13 Jan, 2022 63 -

Bank overdraft BBSW + 1.5 On demand 640 1,009

$1,800,000 bank loan (also see below) BBSW + 1.5 31 Oct, 2035 75 -

$3,200,000 bank loan BBSW + 1.5 31 Dec, 2017 3,200 -

3,978 1,009

Non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Obligation under finance lease contracts 4.65% 13 Jan, 2022 300 -

$1,800,000 bank loan (also see above) BBSW+1.5 31 Oct, 2035 1,725 -

2,025 -
Total interest bearing loans and borrowings 6,003 1,009

Finance lease contracts

During the financial year the Club entered into a finance lease arrangement to fund the purchase of track 
maintenance equipment.  The lease has a 5 year term.

Bank Loans

Both loans were obtained to fund the purchase of The Junction Club and to meet short term working 
capital requirements. 

The $1,800,000 loan is repayable at $25,000 per quarter with the first payment due 31 January, 2018. The 
loan is secured via a mortgage over the lease of The Junction Club.

The $3,200,000 loan is unsecured and is repayable prior to 31 December, 2017.  It is anticipated this 
loan will be repaid using the proceeds from Masterplan development partner contributions which the Club 
expects to receive prior to the maturity date of the loan.

11. ADVANCED FEES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS

2017 2016
$000 $000 

Membership, Dining and Sponsor Pre-Payments 3,675 2,834
3,675 2,834

12.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

 2017 2016
 $000  $000 

Current

  Provision for annual leave 442 447

  Provision for long service leave 725 628

1,167 1,075

Non-current
  Provision for long service leave 325 271

325 271

13.	 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of operating surplus/(deficit) to the net cash flows from operating activities

 2017 2016
 $000  $000 

Operating surplus/ (deficit) (1,070) (1,099)

Add/(deduct)
 - Total depreciation & amortisation 3,389 3,369
 - Loss/(Profit) on disposal of property, plant & equipment (55) 7
 - Decrease in fair value of assets - -
 - Other non cash items (550) (396)

Changes in asset and liability balances
 (Increase)/decrease in receivables (1,594) (465)
 (Increase)/decrease in prepayments (137) 173
 (Increase)/decrease in inventories (24) 44
 Increase/(decrease) in fees in advance 842 (4,220)
 Increase/(decrease) in payables 242 1,050

Net cash flow from operating activities 1,043 (1,537)
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14.	 EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

 2017 2016
 $000  $000 

(i) Gaming machine license commitments
 - payable not later than one year  79  337 
 - payable later than one year and not later than five years - 79

(ii) Gaming related expenditure commitments
 - payable not later than one year 1,528 246
 - payable later than one year and not later than five years 6,113 967

(iii) Other operational related expenditure commitments
 - payable not later than one year 1,640 1,017
 - payable later than one year and not later than five years 2,088 1,451

Aggregated Commitments 11,448 4,097

i) Final instalment for gaming machine entitlements purchased at the Legends gaming venue (see Note 6).

(ii) As a gaming venue operator the Club enters into a number of contracts with external suppliers to 
facilitate ongoing gaming operational requirements. The substantial increase in the 2017 year is 
primarily due to gaming support contracts acquired as part of the purchase of The Junction Club (see 
Note 3).

(iii) As part of its normal day-to-day operations the Club enters into various contracts for the supply of 
goods & services. Contracts range from one to five years. Contracts with variable payments terms are 
not included in the commitments disclosed above. The substantial increase in the 2017 year is primarily 
due to rental commitments relating to The Junction Club (see Note 3).

Finance lease commitments

The Club has taken out finances leases for various items of track maintenance machinery.  The Club’s 
obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets.  Future minimum 
lease payments, together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments are as follows: 

2017 2016

Minimum 
payments

Present value 
of payments

Minimum 
payments

Present value 
of payments

$000 $000 $000 $000

Payable no later than one year 79 63 - -

Payable later than one year and not later than five years 330 300 - -

Total minimum leave payments 409 363 - -

Less amounts representing finance charges (46) - - -
Present value of minimum lease payments 363 363 - -

15.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
Risk Management Policies

The Club has a formal investment policy which outlines acceptable investment vehicles.

It is the policy of the Club not to enter into transactions that require the exchange of either foreign currency 
or interest rates in relation to future commitments.

The Club does not speculate in the trading of derivative assets.

The Club has adopted the policy of dealing only with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient 
collateral or security where appropriate as a means of mitigating the risk of financial losses from defaults.

Accounting Policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, 
the basis of measurement, and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect to 
each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument, are disclosed in Note 2 to the financial 
report.

Interest rate risk

Cash balances are invested in a cash management account on a daily basis. The interest rate on this 
account is variable (2017:1.15%; 2016: 1.55%). 

At balance date, the Club had the following mix of assets and liabilities exposed to Australian variable 
interest rate risk that are not designated in cash flow hedges:

 2017 2016
 $000  $000 

Financial Assets
 Cash and cash equivalents 382  - 

382 -

Financial Liabilities
  Bank overdraft  -  739 

  Borrowings 5,000 -

5,000 739

Net Exposure (4,618) (739)

Management has conducted sensitivity analysis based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence 
at balance date. With all other variables held constant, operating profit would have been affected by the 
following amounts had interest rates moved by levels considered reasonably possible:

Interest Rate Movement Impact on Profit
 2017 2016

(1.0%) 46 7

+1.0% (46) (7) 
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A change in interest rates would not have a material impact on the Club’s equity.
Credit Risk
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Club, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade 
and other receivables, loans, listed securities and the granting of financial guarantees. The Club’s exposure 
to credit risk arises from potential default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the 
carrying amount of the financial assets (as outlined in each applicable note).
The Club does not hold any credit derivatives to offset its credit exposure.
The Club trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties, and as such collateral is not requested nor 
is it the Club’s policy to securitise its trade and other receivables.
The Club minimises concentration of credit risk in relation to trade receivables by undertaking transactions 
with a large number of customers across a range of industries. Credit risk in trade receivables is managed 
by formal risk assessment for new customers and formal monitoring of receivable balances by management 
on a monthly basis. The Club’s experience of bad debts has not been significant.
The Club does not have any significant exposure to any single counterparty or group of counterparties. 
The credit quality of the Club is assessed and monitored as follows: 

Equivalent S&P rating (i) Internally rated (ii)

BBB+ and 
above

BBB and 
below

New 
customers

Closely 
monitored 
customers

No default 
customers Total ($000's)

Year ended 31 July 2017

Current financial assets
  Cash and cash equivalents 382 - - - - 382
  Trade and other receivables - - - - 3,114 3,114
  Loans - - - - 2,662 2,662

Current financial liabilities
  Borrowings (3,275) - - - - (3,275)

(2,893) - - - 5,776 2,883

Non-current financial assets
  Loans - - - - - -

Non-current financial liabilities

  Borrowings (1,725) - - - - (1,725)

(1,725) - - - - (1,725)

Year ended 31 July 2016

Current financial assets
  Trade and other receivables - - - - 1,520 1,520
  Loans - - - - 2,060 2,060

Current financial liabilities

  Bank overdraft (739) - - - - (739)

(739) - - - 3,580 2,841

Non-current financial assets
  Loans - - - - - -

- - - - - -

Price Risk

The Club’s exposure to commodity and equity securities price risk is not considered to be material in 
terms of a possible impact on profit and loss or total equity, and as such a sensitivity analysis has not been 
completed. 

Liquidity Risk

The Club holds significant cash reserves and does not rely on external borrowings to finance its activities.

The Club has no contracted maturing financial liabilities.

Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities based on management’s expectation.

The risk implied from the values shown in the table below reflects a balanced view of the Club’s cash 
inflows and outflows. Trade payables and other financial liabilities mainly originate from the financing of 
assets used in the Club’s ongoing operations such as property, plant, equipment and investments in 
working capital, e.g. inventories and trade receivables. These assets are considered when assessing the 
Club’s overall liquidity risk. The Club monitors the expected settlement of financial assets and liabilities on 
an ongoing basis. 

 <6  
months 

 6–12  
months 

 1–5 
 years 

 >5 
 years  Total 

 $000  $000  $000  $000  $000 

Financial Assets

  Cash and cash equivalents 382 - - - 382
  Trade & other receivables 3,114 - - - 3,114
  Loan receivables - 2,662 - - 2,662

3,496 2,662 - - 6,158

Financial Liabilities
  Trade & other payables 3,478 - - - 3,478
  Interest-bearing loans 3,309 105 563 1,760 5,737

 6,787 105 563 1,760 9,215

Net Maturity (3,291) 2,557 (563) (1,760) (3,057)
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16	 FAIR VALUE
The Club uses various methods in estimating the fair value of assets and liabilities. The methods comprise:

Level 1 – the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets.

Level 2 – the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

Level 3 – the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data.Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets and liabilities of the Club are as follows.

Year ended 31 July 2017 ($000’s) Year ended 31 July 2016 ($000’s)

Quoted 
market 

price  
(Level 1)

Valuation 
technique 
– market 

observable 
inputs  

(Level 2)

Valuation 
technique – 
non market 
observable 

inputs  
(Level 3) Total

Quoted 
market 

price  
(Level 1)

Valuation 
technique 
– market 

observable 
inputs  

(Level 2)

Valuation 
technique – 
non market 
observable 

inputs  
(Level 3) Total

Available for sale investments 
  Unlisted investments

 
 
-

 
 
-

 
 

1,742

 
 

1,742

 
 
-

 
 
-

 
 

1,742

 
 

1,742

Revalued property,  
plant and equipment 
  Freehold land

 
 
 
-

 
 
 
-

 
 
 

157,239

 
 
 

157,239

 
 
 
-

 
 
 
-

 
 
 

156,927

 
 
 

156,927

- - 158,981 158,981 - - 158,669 158,669

Quoted market price represents the fair value determined based on quoted prices on active markets as at 
the reporting date without any deduction for transaction costs. The fair value of the listed income securities 
investments are based on quoted market prices.

For financial instruments not quoted in active markets, the Club uses valuation techniques such as 
present value techniques, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist and 
other relevant models used by market participants. These valuation techniques use both observable and 
unobservable market inputs. 

Transfer between categories

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.

17.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Club does not hold any contingent liabilities.
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18.	 AUDITORS REMUNERATION

 2017 2016
 $000  $000 

Amounts received or due and receivable by the Auditors of the Club for 
– audit of the financial report

 
65,500 

 
74,000 

Other services in relation to the Club: 
– audit of Community Benefit Statement

  
2,000 

  
2,000 

 67,500  76,000 

19.	 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
The following parties are considered to be related parties of the Club:

•	Members of the Committee who held office during the year ended 31 July, 2017, being:
�� Mr D C Casboult – Chairman
�� Mr B G Kruger - Vice Chairman (subsequently resigned 30 August, 2017)
�� Mr J L Blight - Treasurer
�� Mr D H Kobritz
�� Mr P J Blunden
�� Mr M K Ralston (retired 28 March, 2017)
�� Ms K O’Sullivan (resigned 26 April, 2017)
�� Ms E Boling (retired 30 May, 2017)
�� Mr D Sinn (appointed 2 August, 2016) 
�� Mr A C Lennen (appointed 30 May, 2017)
�� Ms Su-Ann Khaw (appointed 30 May, 2017)
�� Mr M J Browell – by virtue of his office as Chief Executive 

•	Radio 3UZ Unit Trust, which is the beneficial owner of 3UZ Pty Ltd and operator of radio station RSN 
Racing & Sport (formerly Sport 927), in which the Club has a 10.72% interest.

•	Victorian Thoroughbred Outside Broadcasting (VTOB) Fixed Trust, whose responsible entity is 
Thoroughbred Racing Productions (Vic) Pty Ltd, in which the Club has a 25% interest. 

•	Racing.com, in which the Club has a 20% interest.
•	Moonee Valley Racing Club Investments Pty Ltd (non-trading) in which the Club has a 100% interest.

All members of the Committee act in an honorary capacity and receive no remuneration for their services.

During the financial year members of the Committee conducted limited financial transactions with the Club. 
All of these transactions were on normal commercial terms and conditions.
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COMMITTEE’S DECLARATION
TO THE MEMBERS OF MOONEE VALLEY RACING CLUB INC.

During the financial year the Club paid Directors and Officers Liability insurance premiums on behalf of the 
Committee and Officers of the Club.

Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel compensation, included in the income statement and balance sheet of the 
Club, is as follows:

 2017 2016
 $000  $000 

Short-term employee benefits 1,723  1,487

Long-term benefits 39  18

Post-employment benefits*  135  117 

 1,897  1,622 

*Consists primarily of statutory superannuation contributions.

20.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Club operates in the thoroughbred horse racing industry. All of the Club’s operations are undertaken 
within Australia.

21.	 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There are no events subsequent to balance date requiring disclosure.
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Page 2

A further descript ion of our responsibilit ies for the audit  of the financial report  is located at the
Audit ing and Assurance Standards Board website at : http:/ /www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar3.pdf.
This descript ion forms part of our auditor’s report.

Ernst & Young
Melbourne
28 September 2017

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF MOONEE VALLEY RACING CLUB INC.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Ernst & Young
8 Exhibition Street
Melbourne  VIC  3000  Australia
GPO Box 67 Melbourne  VIC  3001

 Tel: +61 3 9288 8000
Fax: +61 3 8650 7777
ey.com/au

Independent  auditor ’s report  to the members of Moonee Valley Racing
Club, Inc

Opinion
We have audited the financial report  of Moonee Valley Racing Club, Inc (“ the Club” ), which comprises
the statement of financial position as at 31 July 2017, the statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant account ing policies and the committee’s
declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying f inancial report  presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial
posit ion of the Club as at 31 July 2017 and its f inancial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Audit ing Standards. Our responsibilit ies under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilit ies for the Audit  of the Financial
Report  sect ion of our report . We are independent of the Club in accordance with the ethical
requirements of the Account ing Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit  of the financial report  in
Australia. We have also fulf illed our other ethical responsibilit ies in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit  evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Responsibilit ies of the Commit tee for the Financial Report
The Club’s Committee is responsible for the preparat ion and fair presentation of the financial report  in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and for such internal control as the committee
determine is necessary to enable the preparat ion and fair presentat ion of the financial report  that is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the f inancial report, the Committee is responsible for assessing the Club’s ability to
cont inue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relat ing to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Committee either intend to liquidate the Club or to cease
operat ions, or have no realist ic alternat ive but to do so.

Auditor 's Responsibilit ies for t he Audit  of the Financial Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report  as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit  conducted in accordance with the Australian Audit ing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report .
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decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report .
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